ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 25512 Juneau, Alaska 99802‑5512
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)



)
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)
DECISION AND ORDER



)
AWCB Case No. 8301153
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)
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)
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)

ANCHORAGE WESTWARD HILTON,
)
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)



)


and
)



)

GREAT AMERICAN INSURANCE,
)



)


Insurer,
)


Defendants.
)



)


This claim was heard at Anchorage, Alaska, on May 30, 1990.  Employee was present and represented by attorney Tom Melaney.  Defendants were represented by attorney Phil Eide.  The record closed at the end of the hearing.

ISSUES

1. Is Employee's claim barred by AS 23.30.095, AS 23.30.105 or AS 23.20.110(c)?


2. Is Employee's shoulder condition compensable?


3. If Employee's claim is not barred and is compensable, is Employee entitled to:


a. Temporary total disability or temporary partial disability benefits from August 
1988 

to the present and continuing?


b. Vocational rehabilitation benefits under former AS 23.30.041?


c. Increased permanent partial disability benefits under former AS 23.30.190?


d. Further medical expenses?


5. Is Employee's attorney entitled to actual attorney's fees or minimum statutory fees?

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE AND ARGUMENTS

Employee testified she worked as a cook/baker from November 1975 to April 1983 at the Anchorage Westward Hilton Hotel.  In September 1982 the dough mixer broke down, and she had to use the large floor mixer.  It has a hugh bowl which is heavy even without dough in it.  She was working alone because the other baker was on maternity leave.  She was carrying the bowl of dough through an awkward area of the kitchen.  She was having difficulty carrying the bowl.  Her right hand gave out and the bowl dropped, twisting her wrist in the process.  She felt pain from her wrist, up through her elbow, and into her shoulder.


She testified Employer was short of help;  there was no one else to do the work if she didn't.  Therefore, Employer would not let her take time off, and she continued to work.  Employer had the other baker return early from maternity leave so Employee could return to her normal kitchen duties.


On January 24, 1983, Employee saw A.B. Colyar, M.D. He indicated Employee's arm was swollen to three inches above the wrist, and her right shoulder was painful.  The shoulder pain seemed to be centralized over the anterior portion of the shoulder, just medial to the joint.  He diagnosed muscle strain and probable tenosynovitis of the right wrist.  He prescribed physical therapy, magnatherm to the wrist and shoulder, analgesics, and an elastic brace.  Dr. Colyar advised Employee not to work for a week to ten days.  (Colyar January 24, 1983, Physician's Report).  According to Dr. Colyar's January 27, 1983 chart notes, Employee returned still complaining of pain in the anterior shoulder.  He determined the pain was just below the distal end of the clavicle.


On February 1, 1983, Employee completed an injury report stating that she pulled and strained the muscles in her right arm on January 22, 1983, by scooping about 200 ice creams.


On February 14, 1983, Dr. Colyar reported that the x‑rays showed no stress fractures or dislocation.  He released her to return to her regular duties, but recommended that she continue with physiotherapy and anti‑inflammatory medication. (Colyar February 14, 1983 Physician's Report).  Defendants paid her temporary total disability (TTD) benefits for this period.  (February 14, 1983, Compensation Report).


On March 24, 1983, Employee saw Harry Olsen, M.D., an associate of Dr. Colyar.  He noted swelling along the dorsum of her wrist and tenderness in the area.  She told him her wrist had been getting progressively worse, not better.  He stopped her physical therapy, gave her pain medication, restricted her activities, and told her to return to see Dr. Colyar the following week. (Olsen March 24, 1983 Physician's Report).


Employee returned to see Dr. Colyar on March 29, 1983.  He noted swelling in her arm.  He immobilized the wrist and forearm by a cast.  Her told her not to work for three to six weeks.  (Colyar March 31, 1983 Physician's Report).


Employee apparently returned to work because she testified that she didn't stop working until April 1, 1983.  Defendants, who had paid TTD benefits for the period of January 26, 1983 through February 14, 1983, also resumed TTD benefits effective April 11 1983. (April 15, 1983 Compensation Report).


In May 1983 Employee returned to Dr. Colyar for a check of her shoulder and wrist.  She had done some housecleaning, and her right shoulder was painful.  Dr. Colyar continued to recommend remaining off work. (Colyar May 17, 1983, chart note).


In August 1983 Employee began seeing Harry Reese, M.D., for treatment.  In October 1983 he reported that she was released for work, but her immediate supervisor was concerned about her ability to do the work and would not accept her return.  She also reported that her symptoms had increased.  Dr. Reese recommended that Defendants arrange for vocational rehabilitation assistance.  He suggested she find work that did not require repetitive use of the wrist or anything that required use of her right upper arm for repetitive lifting, pulling or pushing.  (Reese October 25, 1983, Chart Note).


Employee underwent a program at Alaska Treatment Center to switch her to using the left hand instead of her right hand.  She reported that she noticed fewer symptoms when she began using her left hand more.  (Reese July 20, 1984, chart note).  Apparently about this same time Defendants assigned a vocational rehabilitation professional to work with Employee.  (Cadle August 3, 1984 Progress Notes).


Employee testified that she didn't work again until October 1984, when she got a job as a cashier at a gas station.  She worked for about two months, but had to quit because her right hand problem interfered with her ability to pick up coins.  She saw Dr. Reese on October 19, 1984, for her pain complaints and difficulty in using her hand. (Reese October 19, 1984 chart note).  Defendants continued to pay TTD benefits during this time.  (January 22, 1985, compensation Report).


Other than following her medical treatment, it does not appear the vocational rehabilitation specialist did anything to assist Employee in returning to work.  Based on the January 24, 1985, progress report, it appears the specialist anticipated Employee would be able to return to work as a cook/baker after she had the surgery which Dr. Reese was recommending.  On February 6, 1985, Dr. Reese performed a tendon lengthening surgery on Employee's right wrist.


An initial evaluation was performed by the vocational rehabilitation provider in early 1985.  In her February 13, 1985, report of the evaluation, under “Apparent Transferrable

Skills" the provider stated: "Mr. Jensen has primarily been a baker/cook in varying capacities for the past 10 years.  She has not had to initiate or carry out any significant amount of paperwork during that time.  Ms. Jensen completed high school in 1975 and has not pursued any further academic training since that time. . . ." The provider indicated that vocational testing had been performed which could be used in the development of a vocational rehabilitation plan if Employee was unable to return to the type of work she did at the time of injury.


By the time of her April 5, 1985, visit to Dr. Reese, Employee's pain symptoms had returned with increased activity.


In her June 11, 1985, Progress Report the vocational rehabilitation professional stated she had conducted a labor market survey for employment in the areas in which Employee had expressed interest ‑‑ florist, desk clerk, sales, restaurant hostess, and light delivery work.  The professional stated that Employee was working in her father's auto shop in a effort to strengthen her wrist before seeking full‑time employment.


In July 1985 Employee began working as a baker at Pioneer Pies.  The work caused her to have problems with her wrist even though she was working only part‑time.  (Reese August 9, 1985, chart note).  According to the August 26, 1985, Progress Report by the vocational rehabilitation professional, Employee was still interested in returning to work at the Hilton because it was a union job.  However, Employee indicated to the professional that she was satisfied to continue working at Pioneer Pies to build up her strength.  She had been offered the job of Head Baker, but had turned it down because of the duties and hours involved.


According to the September 27, 1985, Progress Report, Employee gave her two‑week notice at Pioneer Pies on September 13, 1985, because she was having difficulty in doing the work.  Employee indicated to the vocational rehabilitation professional that she was interested in finding lighter work, such as a hostess job at a restaurant.  Defendants, who had been paying temporary partial disability (TPD) benefits while Employee worked at Pioneer Pies, resumed TTD benefits October 3, 1985.  (June 3, 1986, Compensation Report).  The vocational rehabilitation professional's October 28, 1985, Progress Report states:  "It has been suggested to this counselor that Ms. Jensen's case be put on hold until Dr. Lipske [sic] can complete an evaluation on Ms. Jensen's hand."  In the November 22, 1985, Progress Report the professional again indicated that she was awaiting a thorough evaluation report from Dr. Lipke in order to determine what would be appropriate rehabilitation efforts.


On December 6, 1985, Robert Lipke, M.D., issued a report following his evaluation of Employee.  He believed Employee had reached maximum improvement, and that her subjective complaints of pain were far in excess of her positive physical findings because her EMG studies were normal.  Dr. Lipke rated her permanent physical impairment at eight percent of the hand, or seven percent of the upper extremity.  Dr. Reese reviewed Dr. Lipke's report and, although there were some inconsistencies in Dr. Lipke's version of her history, Dr. Reese agreed "whole‑heartedly" with Dr. Lipke's clinical evaluation.  He also agreed with the seven percent permanent impairment rating given for the condition of the right upper extremity.  (Reese December 17, 1985 chart note).


The vocational rehabilitation professional stated in her January 29, 1986, report that she had researched several types of employment for which Employee qualified.  However, there were no current openings in the areas for which she qualified, such as answering service operator, auto parts counter clerk, child care assistant, or front desk clerk.  The February 25, 1986, Progress Report indicates Employee's continued interest in returning to work at the Hilton, but that she continued to meet with resistance from the hotel because her former husband was employed as a chef.  The vocational rehabilitation professional was trying to locate a job as a cook/hostess for Employee.  An interview for a job as a cook at the Kayak Club was arranged for Employee.


Employee testified she worked at a day care center in early 1986.  This job apparently started on March 3, 1986, as that is when Defendants changed the type of benefits from TTD to TPD.  (April 21, 1986 Compensation Report).


In April 1986 Employee moved to Colorado.  Vocational rehabilitation services were terminated.  (May 22, 1986 Progress Report).  Because the vocational rehabilitation specialist had determined that Employee could work as a hostess in a restaurant, Employee sought this type of work.  Dr. Reese had also found this type of work suitable for her despite her symptoms.  (Reese April 9, 1986 chart note).


On April 28, 1986, we received Defendants' Controversion Notice denying further temporary benefits.  At the same time, Defendants began paying Employee permanent partial disability (PPD) benefits on a bi‑weekly basis.  (April 28, 1986 Compensation Report).


On May 5, 1986, Employee saw Donald Ferlic, M.D. He reported that she "has had a full course of studies and treatment.  Do not feel that any more treatment would be advantageous . . . . I would agree with the rating . . . of 8% permanent partial impairment of the hand . . . [or] 7% permanent partial impairment of the upper extremity." (Ferlic May 5, 1986 letter).


On June 6, 1986, Employee filed her claim for TTD benefits from March 3, 1986 and continuing, possible PPD benefits, possible medical and transportation expenses, a determination of her gross weekly earnings, and vocational rehabilitation benefits, as well as attorney's fees and costs.  On July 17, 1986, we received Employee's request for a hearing.


In July 1986 Defendants paid in a lump sum her remaining PPD benefits totaling $3,614.34 based on a eight percent impairment of the hand.  (July 29, 1986, report).  Our staff advised Defendants that the PPD benefits had been miscalculated. (Costa August 5, 1986 letter).  Defendants then paid her additional benefits to equal the $3,636.39 that would be due for an eight percent impairment of the hand. (August 13, 1986 Compensation Report).


A pre‑hearing conference was scheduled with our staff on September 11, 1986.  After discussing the case at hearing, no hearing date was set because additional discovery needed to be done.


Employee testified that as business picked up at the restaurant in the summer of 1986 her duties increased.  In addition to her hostess duties, Employee testified she had to bus tables, bring large trays with food orders to the waitresses' station so the waitresses could serve the food, and clean the restrooms.  She testified doing the busing work, carrying food trays, and mopping floors increased her symptoms.  The hours worked at the restaurant varied each week.  She usually worked three to four days a week, but sometimes only worked one to two hours a day.


Her medical records indicate she returned to Dr. Ferlic with complaints of increased pain complaints and some swelling in her finger joints in June and July 1986. (Ferlic June 6 and July 14, 1986 chart notes).  In October 1986 Dr. Ferlic noticed that her hours of work had increased, and her pain had also increased.  He suggested perhaps she should be retrained.  (Ferlic October 2, 1986 chart note).


A labor market survey was conducted by the vocational rehabilitation professional in November 1986 for a restaurant hostess' job in the Anchorage area.  The professional reported that the physical demands of the job according to the Dictionary of Occupational Titles are considered light, with lifting of 20 pounds as a maximum, although extensive walking and standing is required. Some employers expected some light busing of tables by the hostess when the restaurant was busy.  The entry level salary was an average of $5.25 an hour.  The professional reported that Yesterday's was looking for new employees.  A few other restaurants anticipated openings in the near future.  In a November 20, 1986, letter the professional stated that a hostess' job duties could "range anywhere from washing dishes and busing tables to hiring and firing of dining room personnel."


Employee testified she worked at the restaurant in Denver until November 1986.  She saw Dr. Ferlic on December 10, 1986, and he noted, "patient is here to remind me that it's not only being a waitress that bothers her but pushing tables and doing heavy repetitive work as a hostess."


Sometime in November or December of 1986 Employee moved to Montana.  After moving to Montana Employee found work at a McDonald's fast food restaurant.  She worked there for three to four weeks.


While in Montana, she saw R.A. Sterling, M.D., who specializes in orthopedic surgery, for "pain in the elbow and shoulder."  He thought she might have an "atypical carpal tunnel syndrome on top of everything else."  He recommended repeat nerve conduction studies. (Sterling January 14, 1987, chart note).


The vocational rehabilitation professional prepared a Vocational Rehabilitation Services Plan (VRSP) dated January 29, 1987.  In the VRSP plan it states Ms. Jensen's education, experience, and work history.  The professional stated that


[b]y taking Ms. Jensen's vocational background in the areas mentioned above, along with taking her interest into account, and with the physical restrictions and limitations placed on her by her primary attending physicians, this VRSP was developed in the area of host/hostess in various restaurants in the Anchorage area.


Later the professional stated in the January 29, 1987, VRSP:


In terms of the Work Evaluation that was completed on the occupation of host/hostess, it is evident that physical demands of this type of position utilizing a person's hands and wrists in various situations such as table bussing or cleaning, would not be required of Ms. Jensen.  It is anticipated that Ms. Jensen were to obtain a job as a hostess in a medium sized restaurant, the physical demands of the job to include light handwriting and making reservations would not conflict with the physical restrictions . . . set forth by her primary treating physician. . . .


In his February 25, 1987, chart note Dr. Sterling reported that Employee's nerve conduction studies were normal.  He reported she was working two hours a day, four days a week at McDonald's.  She had elbow tenderness.  He recommended continuing her putty exercise.


In March or April 1987, she moved to Portland, Oregon.  While in Portland she came under the care of Gregory Irvine, M.D.  His chart note of April 8, 1987, Dr. Irvine reported Employee's complaints of pain in the wrist extending into the fingers.  He decided to have the nerve conduction studies repeated because the previous tests weren't available to him.  He apparently referred her to Warren Anderson, M.D. Dr. Anderson's April 28, 1987, letter to Dr. Irvine states that Employee told him she had "pain in the right wrist area . . . and palm in association with increased use.  If she continued to use the arm, she develops shoulder pain and then, subsequently, right elbow pain." Dr. Warren performed the nerve conduction studies, which showed "no evidence of peripheral nerve compromise."


On May 4, 1987, Dr. Irvine stated in his chart note that her nerve conduction studies were normal.  In his June 4, 1987, chart note Dr. Irvine reported that Employee "has been working as a housekeeper in an apartment.  She has had some exacerbation of pain . . . over the u1nar side of her hand. . . ." His diagnosis was probably carpal tunnel syndrome and tenosynovitis in the hand.


In his July 7, 1987, chart note Dr. Irvine stated: "I still feel that in spite of the negative electromyelogram. [sic) that [she] has a high likelihood of having significant carpal tunnel syndrome. . . . I have requested approval for carpal tunnel release. . . ." He performed a carpel tunnel release on July 27 1987.  At her August 11, 1987, visit, she reported to Dr. Irvine that "her symptoms have dramatically improved since surgery including her hand and shoulder symptoms."


Defendants’ filed a Controversion Notice on August 2, 1987, denying all benefits.  However, they subsequently paid TTD benefits from July 28, 1987 through September 13, 1987, while Employee was recovering from the surgery. (September 11, 1987 Compensation Report). Employee contends that Defendants did not pay all medical expenses relating to this surgery.  She testified that about $400.00 of Dr. Irvine's charges remain unpaid.


In October 1987 Employee returned to work.  She first worked at an Elmer's restaurant, but quit after two weeks because of the unsanitary kitchen conditions.  In October of 1987 she began working as a cook at the Red Lion Inn.  At the same time she and her husband were also doing maintenance work for a property management company at an apartment building in which they lived.  She testified in her deposition that when a unit became empty, she went in and cleaned, or repainted the walls, or whatever needed to be done.  This was done on a part‑time basis from May of 1987 to July of 1988.  The number of hours worked a week varied, depending on the number of units that became vacant.  (Ogden Dep. at 29).  The apartment complex they managed had about 100 apartments.  (Id. at 30).


Employee saw Dr. Irvine on October 26, 1987, and he reported in his chart note for that visit that "She is currently working as a cook and getting along quite well, she says after prolonged chopping with a butcher knife, she will develop paresthesia in the radial aspect of the index finger."


In his chart notes for her March 3, 1988, visit, Dr. Irvine stated "her hand is really giving her no problem.  She complains of right shoulder pain which is activity related." His impression was "right rotator cuff tendinitis, subacromial bursitis."  He injected her with Marcaine and Dexamethasone.  When she returned on March 7, 1988, she had a positive impingement sign.  Dr. Irvine prescribed Naprosyn and indicated she could continue working. (Irvine March 7, 1988 chart note).  In his April 18, 1988, chart note Dr. Irvine reported her shoulder symptoms had returned, and she felt "spacyll using Naprosyn.  He again injected her shoulder.  On May 16, 1988, he noted her long‑term chronic complaints and decided to order an arthrogram.  The May 17, 1988, arthrogram reports states that the "abduction and biceps groove views are unremarkable.  No rotator cuff tear is seen and the visualized parts of articular cartilage (not all parts seen) seem normal.  No synovitis or loose bodies are demonstrated."


Employee returned to Dr. Irvine on May 23, 1988.  His chart note indicates he prescribed Orudis, and he believed she could continue working.  In his June 20, 1988, chart note Dr. Irvine stated Employee complained that the Orudis made her drowsy, he again injected the shoulder, and said she could continue working.  In his July 5, 1988, chart note Dr. Irvine stated Employee continued to complain Of pain.  There was nothing remarkable in her upper extremity examination.  He said, "I am really not sure why the patient is having persistent symptoms.  I have recommended that she continue with her normal duty work and I have referred her to Dr. Paul Switlyck for his evaluation and second opinion."


Dr. Switlyck's July 1, 1988, lengthy letter to Dr. Irvine indicated that he thought Employee had chronic rotator cuff tendonitis with mild multidirectional laxity in her right Shoulder. He also stated:

I think the answer to Mrs. Ogden's continued painful shoulder condition will eventually have to be further modification of her job status and probably retraining in some other type of work. I think she does have chronic tendonitis.  However, I don't think abnormal impinging acromion is the primary pathology in her situation.  I rather think it's more the type of work she does, especially at shoulder height, and probably some associated with some mild multidirectional laxity. . . . Patients with such shoulders do have a greater propensity to develop painful tendonitis with repetitive arm use which is not too amendable [sic] to acromioplasty. . . . It might be reasonable to have her go through a good program of rotator cuff strengthening to see if this would make any difference, but I fear that alone it would not.


Employee quit working at the Red Lion Inn in July 1988.  She moved to Lacy, Washington in August 1988.  On August 10, 1988, Defendants filed a Controversion Notice, controverting all benefits.  The reason given for the controversion was:

It is more than 5 1/2 years since Ms. Ogden's injury.  She has treated off and on for that entire time.  All treatment until recently has been for her forearm [sic] and wrist.  Ms. Ogden has been working for various employers during the course of this claim.  We question the relationship of the current condition to our injury. . . .


About this time, Defendants had Paul Puziss, M.D., evaluate Employee.  In his August 29, 1988, letter Dr. Puziss noted the mild laxity in Employee's shoulder.  There was no atrophy in her upper arm.  One of his diagnoses was chronic right rotator cuff tendinitis with acromioclavicular joint arthralgia.  He also stated:

The patient sustained injuries about the right wrist in September 1982 and again in January 1983.  The incidents described, on a more probable than not basis, are the cause of these conditions.  She developed chronic strain of the right wrist and persistent shoulder pain.  Subjectively, the patient has had shoulder pain since 1982, although virtually all treatment has been directed to the right wrist. . . . The patient probably does have a generalized inflammatory response of the entire right upper extremity.  I do not find that there are any pre‑existing concurrent or to her intervening medical conditions.  I do not believe that the patient's problems are a natural progression of some preexisting disease since none are present.  Her condition has not reached pre‑injury status . . . .


He thought her long history of problems stemmed from the carpal tunnel syndrome, and Dr. Irvine's release was appropriate and excellent treatment.  He believed she has anterior shoulder synovitis and suggested arthroscopic debridement, although he could not predict that it would help.


In a physical capacities evaluation accompanying his letter, Dr. Puziss noted that she could lift up to 10 pounds occasionally, but should not lift over 20 pounds.  She could use her hand for non‑repetitive work only.  He believed she temporarily should avoid using her right wrist, and on a permanent basis she needed an occupation that does not require heavy and/or repetitive use of the right wrist or heavy and repetitive grasping.  He said that if she didn't want to try the arthroscopy, then she was medically stable and agreed with the eight percent impairment ratings given by other doctors.


By September 1988 when neither party had filed any further request for Board action on the claim, our staff noted the inactivity before the Board for over six months.  Employee's July 17, 1986, request for the hearing was declared inoperative, and our staff notified the parties. (Stoll September 8, 1988, letter).


Defendants wrote to Dr. Irvine questioning him about the relationship of Employee's shoulder condition to the work injury.  In his November 2, 1988, letter to Defendants Dr. Irvine stated that he thought her shoulder problems were "either caused or aggravated by [her] current employment as a cook and is in my opinion unrelated to her previous work‑related injury which was more a problem with her hand and specifically a carpal tunnel syndrome."


On March 22, 1989, we received Defendants' request for a prehearing conference.  A conference was scheduled for April 12, 1989, but was actually held on April 17, 1989.  At the prehearing conference, Employee's attorney advised Defendants that Employee would be amending her claim.  (April 17, 1989, Prehearing Conference Summary).


Employee's attorney then wrote to Dr. Irvine.  In his July 20, 1989, reply, Dr. Irvine states:

I have reviewed the office notes dated January of 1983 . . . . It would appear from these notes that the patient was in fact, complaining of problems related to her shoulder as early as January of 1983 and therefore, given this new information which was apparently previously unavailable to me, I would change my opinion that her current complaints are unrelated to her Alaska industrial injury.  In fact, I would suspect that there is a direct link.


On October 12, 1989, we received another claim form from Employee.  This time she claimed TTD benefits from August 1988 to the present.  She no longer contended PPD benefits, vocational rehabilitation benefits, and medical costs were just possible claims;  instead she specifically sought those benefits.  In addition, Employee dropped her claim for a gross weekly earnings' determination.  On January 8, 1990, we received Employee's completed request for a hearing on her claim.


About this time, Employee contacted the State of Washington, Division of Vocational Rehabilitation.  The rehabilitation counselor sent her to see Dr. Siene in March 1990.  He noted that her primary complaints were her shoulder condition and referred her to physical therapy.  The State of Washington paid for her first visit to Dr. Siene, but not for her physical therapy.


Since moving to Lacy Employee has applied for jobs, but has not been hired.  She worked one temporary job for three days as a retail clerk in a gift shop.  Between January 1989 and August 1989, she took a course in real estate sales, but has not taken the examination to become licensed.


Defendants submitted a recent labor market survey for the Portland, Oregon, area where they thought Employee still lived.  Twenty restaurants and hotels were contacted for the February 22, 1990, labor market survey.  Eighteen restaurants and hotels employed hostesses, and they reported periodic turnover, with anticipated openings for hostesses in the near future.  Some of the potential employers expected a hostess to perform busing duties when the restaurant was busy.  Most of them expected the hostess to serve coffee, water, and other drinks.


Employee contends she is entitled to additional TTD, PTD, and vocational rehabilitation benefits as well as payment of her medical expenses and attorney's fees.


Defendants contend that Employee's claims are barred, that her shoulder condition is congenital and not compensable.  They also contend she is not entitled to any further benefits because she has been fully paid for her temporary and permanent benefits, and a full vocational rehabilitation evaluation in 1987 determined that she could return to work as a restaurant hostess by using her transferrable skills.


At the hearing, Defendants presented the testimony of Carol Jacobsen, a vocational rehabilitation specialist.  She stated that a hostess' job is considered light duty, which means it may require occasional lifting up to 20 pounds, and repeated lifting of 10 pounds.  She estimated that to bus a table of dishes would usually mean that person would carry about 25 pounds.  Ms. Jacobsen testified that it is unusual for a hostess in a medium‑sized restaurant to bus tables.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
I.
IS EMPLOYEE'S CLAIM BARRED BY AS 23.30.095(a), AS 23.30.105, OR AS 23.30.110(c)?


a. DOES AS 23.30.095(a) BAR EMPLOYEE'S CLAIM?


We find Defendants, argument that Employee's claim is barred by various statute of limitations is without merit.  At the time of Employee's injuries AS 23.30.095(a) stated in part:

The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, . . . which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee. . . . It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two‑year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.  The board may authorize continued treatment or care of both as the process of recovery may require.


We conclude AS 23.30.095(a) is not a bar to Employee's claim for medical care so long as the condition is compensable and the treatment is for the process of recovery.


Defendants do not argue about the treatment being for the process of recovery. Instead they argue her shoulder condition is not compensable, and for that reason, we should not authorize it. As discussed below, we find the shoulder condition is compensable.  However, Employee has not submitted the doctor's bill which she alleges is unpaid.  She testified she believed she had received a notice that she owed Dr. Irvine about $400.00. Without more specific information, we cannot determine what condition he treated, as he might have treated a condition other than her arm, nor can we determine the exact amount due.  Accordingly, we direct Employee to submit the doctor's reports and billings for her unpaid medical expenses to Defendants.  Defendants should pay those expenses that are reasonable, necessary and related to her compensable conditions. we retain jurisdiction if there is a dispute about the medical expenses.

b. DOES AS 23.30.105(a) BAR EMPLOYEE'S CLAIM?

At the time of Employee's injury, As 23.30.105(a)
 provided:

The right to compensation for disability under this chapter is barred unless a claim for it is filed within two years after the employee has knowledge of the nature of the employee's disability and its relation to the employment and after disablement. . . . [E]xcept that if payment of compensation has been made without an award on account of the injury or death, a claim may be filed within two years after the date of the last payment.  It is additionally provided that, in the case of latent defects pertinent to and causing compensable disability, the injured employee has full right to claim as shall be determined by the board, time limitations notwithstanding.


We find Employee first filed a claim for TTD, as well as possible PPD, vocational rehabilitation, and medical benefits on June 6, 1986.  We find Employee notified Defendants at the April 17, 1989, pre‑hearing that she would amend her claim.  We find Employee filed her amended claim on October 12, 1989.  We conclude Employee's claim was timely filed under AS 23.30.095(a).


c. DOES AS 23.30.110(c) BAR EMPLOYEE'S CLAIM?


At the time of Employee's injury AS 23.30.110(c) provided in part:

If a claim is controverted by the employer and the employee does not request a hearing for a period of two years following the controversion, the claim is denied.


We find Defendants' first controversion of January 6, 1986, was filed before Employee filed a claim.  Accordingly, it is not a controversion which begins the running of the time limitation to request a hearing under AS 23.30.110(c). Routh v. Glacier State Telephone, AWCB Decision No. 89‑0238 (September 7,1989); Thornton v. North Star Stevedoring, AWCB Decision No. 87‑0127 (June 9, 1987); aff’d 3 AN 87‑6512 CI (Alaska Super.  Ct.  April 21, 1988).


We find Defendants controverted TTD and TPD benefits on April 21, 1986.  We find Employee filed a claim on June 6, 1986, and requested a hearing on July 17, 1986.  However, no hearing was set because additional discovery was necessary.  Eventually, the request for a hearing was declared inoperative, and Employee eventually filed a second request for a hearing.


We have previously ruled that "the language of AS 23.30.110(c) does not require the employee to actually participate in a hearing but only to request one." Miller v. Frontier Rock & Sand, AWCB Decision No. 87‑0284 (November 12, 1987); aff’d on other grounds 4 FA‑88‑815 Civil (Alaska Super Ct.  August 11, 1989).


Accordingly, we conclude that Employee complied with AS 23.30.110(c) and timely requested a hearing on the April 21, 1986, controversion of TTD and TPD benefits.  In addition, we find Defendants' resumption of TTD on benefits effective July 28, 1987, withdrew the controversion of benefits.  For this reason, we would also find subsection 110(c) does not bar Employee's claim.


On August 18, 1987, Defendants controverted all benefits.  However, on September 11, 1987, Defendants resumed TTD benefits effective July 28, 1987.  Apparently, they also paid additional medical expenses at that time.


We have previously ruled that an employer's actions subsequent to the filing of a controversion can result in a waiver of the employer's right to claim the benefit of the subsection 110(c) time limit. AHTNA Constr. Co., AWCB Decision No. 85‑0180 (June 21, 1985).  In this case we conclude that by paying benefits after the controversion, Defendants rescinded the controversion and waived their right to claim the benefits of the subsection 110(c) time limit.


Defendants filed another controversion on August 10, 1988, controverting all benefits.  We find Employee's January 8, 1990, hearing request was filed within two years after the controversion.  Defendants filed their final controversion on February 7, 1989, again controverting all benefits.  The controversion relates to the shoulder condition which is also the subject of this hearing.  The January 8, 1990, hearing request was also filed within the two years after this controversion.  Accordingly, subsection 110(c) does not bar her claim.


II. IS EMPLOYEE'S SHOULDER CONDITION COMPENSABLE?


AS 23.30.120(a) provides in part:


(a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that

(1)
the claim comes within the provisions of the chapter; . . . .


We find Employee gave notice of her January 22, 1983, injury on February 1, 1983, or within the 30 days allowed by AS 23.30.100.  Accordingly, if she can establish a link between the shoulder condition and her injury, she will enjoy the benefit of the presumption.


In Burgess Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 313 (Alaska 1981), the Alaska Supreme Court held that the employee must establish a preliminary link between the injury and the employment for the presumption to attach. 623 P.2d at 316. 11[I]n claims 'based on highly technical medical considerations', medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection." Id. at 316 (quoting Commercial Union Cos. v. Smallwood, 550 P.2d 1261, 1267 (Alaska 1976).  "Two factors determine whether expert medical evidence is necessary in a given case:  the probative value of the available lay evidence and the complexity of medical facts involved." Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).


Once the employee makes a prima facie case of work‑relatedness the presumption of compensability attaches and shifts the burden of production to the employer. Id. at 870.  To make a prima facie case the employee must show that (1) he has an injury and (2) an employment event or exposure could have caused it.


To overcome the presumption of compensability, the employer must present substantial evidence the injury was not work‑related. Id.;  Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).  The Alaska Supreme Court "has consistently defined 'substantial evidence' as 'Such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion'." Miller, 577 P.2d at 1046 (quoting Thornton, 411 P.2d at 210).  In Fireman's Fund American Insurance Cos. v. Gomes, 544 P.2d 1013, 1016 (Alaska 1976), the Court explained two possible ways to overcome the presumption: (1) produce affirmative evidence the injury was not work‑related or (2) eliminate all reasonable possibilities the injury was work‑related.


The same standards used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link apply to determining whether medical evidence is necessary to overcome the presumption.  Veco, 693 P.2d at 871.  "Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production and not the burden of persuasion, the evidence tending to rebut the presumption should be examined by itself." Id. at 869.


If the employer produces substantial evidence that the injury was not work‑related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence. Id. at 870.  "Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of the [triers of fact) that the asserted facts are probably true." Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).


Another long‑standing principle that must be included in this analysis is that inconclusive or doubtful medical testimony must be resolved in the employee's favor.  Land & Marine Rental Co. v. Rawls, 686 P‑2d 1187, 1190 (Alaska 1984); Kessick v. Alyeska Pipeline Service Co, 617 P.2d 755, 758 (Alaska 1980); Miller v. ITT, Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1049 (Alaska 1978); Beauchamp V. Employers Liability Assurance Co., 477 P.2d 933, 996‑7 (Alaska 1970).


In this case Employee complained of shoulder problems on her first physician's visit.  (Colyar's January 24, 1983 Physician's Report and chart note).  She complained again on January 27, 1983, May 17, 1983.  (Colyar's January 27 and May 17, 1983, chart note).  She described her pain as in her hand, wrist and shoulder when she consulted Dr. Wichman on June 13, 1983. (Wichman June 13, 1983 Physician's Report).  On January 14, 1984, Employee told Dr. Reese that she had right anterior shoulder soreness; he treated the shoulder and decreased her symptoms. (Reese January 14, 1984 chart note). Employee repeated her history of a shoulder pain at the time of the January 23, 1983, injury when she was examined by Dr. Lipke.  (Lipke December 6, 1985 letter).  When she consulted Dr. Ferlic on May 5, 1986, she again described her pain as radiating up into her shoulder. (Ferlic May 5, 1986 chart note).  She also described the pain in the elbow and shoulder when she saw Dr. Sterling on January 14, 1987.  (Sterling January 14, 1987 report). Likewise, when she saw Dr. Anderson on April 28, 1987, she again stated that if she continued to use her arm she experienced pain in the shoulder and elbow. (Anderson April 28, 1987, letter).  On April 11, 1987, she told Dr. Irvine that her hand and shoulder symptoms dramatically improved after the carpal tunnel release. (Irvine August 11, 1987, chart note).  During her February 22, 1988, visit with Dr. Irvine, she stated that she had shoulder pain that was activity related.  He diagnosed her condition as right rotator cuff tendinitis, subacromial bursitis. (Irvine February 22, 1988, chart note).  Thereafter in March, April, May, June, and July, 1988, she complained of, and was treated by Dr. Irvine, for shoulder pain.


In his July 21, 1988, report Dr. Switlyck noted her mild multidirectional laxity in her shoulder and stated, "Patients with such shoulders do have a greater propensity to develop painful tendonitis with repetitive arm use."  In his August 29, 1988, report Dr. Puziss stated that "[s]ubjectively, the patient has had shoulder pain since 1982, although virtually all treatment has been directed to the right wrist . . . . The patient probably does have a generalized inflammatory response of the entire right upper extremity.  I do not find that there are any pre‑existing concurrent or other intervening medical conditions . . . .”


Although initially Dr. Irvine did not believe Employee's shoulder condition was related to her industrial injury, upon receiving additional medical reports, he changed his opinion.


Contrary to Defendants' assertion, we find Employee has consistently complained of shoulder problems throughout the course of her treatment.


We find the medical evidence provided by Dr. Reese and Dr. Puziss coupled with Employee's testimony establishes the preliminary link and raises the presumption that the shoulder condition is compensable.  Because Dr. Irvine recanted his first opinion about the shoulder condition when he received all of Employee's medical records, we find his initial opinion is inadequate to overcome the presumption that the shoulder condition is related to her compensable injury.  Even if Dr. Irvine's first opinion overcomes the presumption, we find the other medical evidence coupled with Employee's testimony proves Employee's claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  Accordingly, we conclude she is entitled to benefits relating to her shoulder condition.


The issue then becomes whether additional benefits are due for Employee's wrist and shoulder condition.  We have already noted above that Employee may be entitled to additional medical benefits.  Employee also seeks additional TTD benefits, vocational rehabilitation benefits, and increased PPD benefits.


The Alaska Workers' Compensation Act does not define temporary disability.  The term "disability" is defined in AS 23.30.265(10) as the "incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment."


In Bignell v. Wise Mechanical Contractors, 651 P.2d 1163 (Alaska 1982), the Alaska Supreme Court discussed the duration of temporary disability.  The court noted that some jurisdictions terminate temporary benefits after medical stabilization.  It went on to conclude that temporary benefits were appropriate while an injured worker is engaged in a vocational rehabilitation program.
  651 P.2d 1168.  Of course in Bignell the court was considering a case involving unscheduled permanent partial disability compensable under former AS 23.30.190(a)(20).  Employee has a scheduled injury which is compensable under former AS 23.30.190(a)(1).


In concluding that temporary benefits were appropriate, the court specifically stated, "The Board will have a far stronger basis to ascertain the impact on an injured employee's wage earning capacity (in cases of unscheduled permanent partial disability benefits) after completion of a vocational rehabilitation assessment and, in appropriate cases, a vocational rehabilitation program." 651 P.2d 1167.


We first consider the issue of further rehabilitation benefits. At the time of Employee's injury former AS 23.30.041(c), (d), and (i) provided in part:


(c) If an employee suffers a permanent disability that precludes return to suitable gainful employment
, the employee is entitled to be fully evaluated for participation in a rehabilitation plan within 90 days after the date of injury. A full evaluation shall be performed by a qualified rehabilitation professional. . . .  If the employer does not timely schedule an evaluation under this subsection, the board or a person designated by the board may retain a qualified rehabilitation professional to perform the evaluation. . . .


(d) A full evaluation by a qualified rehabilitation professional shall include a determination whether a rehabilitation plan is necessary and shall include the following specific determinations:


(1) whether the rehabilitation plan will enable the employee to return to suitable gainful employment;


(2) whether the employee can return to suitable gainful employment without the rehabilitation plan; . . . .


(i) For purposes of this section, an employee is restored to suitable gainful employment if the employee can return to (1) work at the same or similar occupation with the same employer or an employer in the same industry as the employer at the time of injury; (2) an occupation using essentially the same skills as the job at the time of injury but in a different industry (3) an occupation using different skills but using the employee's academic achievement level at the time of injury; or (4) an occupation requiring an academic achievement level that is different from that attained at the time of injury.  An employee shall be returned to suitable gainful employment in the order indicated in (1) ‑ (4) of this subsection.


Although Defendants assigned a vocational rehabilitation professional shortly after Employee became disabled from her injury, an evaluation was not timely performed.  However, one was eventually done.  The vocational rehabilitation professional concluded that Employee could return to suitable gainful employment using different skills but using her academic achievement level at the time of the injury.


The vocational rehabilitation professional determined Employee could be a hostess in a medium‑sized restaurant because she would then be able to work within her limitations, and she would not have to perform busing duties.  The professional even helped locate such employment for her in Anchorage.  Defendants presented evidence that such employment was also reasonably available in another city in which Employee resided since living Anchorage.


We recognize that after the evaluation was done, Employee returned to work, and her doctors continued to recommend rehabilitation.  However, her job at the restaurant in Denver demanded more than is usually expected of a hostess.  Thereafter when she worked in Portland at the Red Lion Inn she worked as a cook which is clearly beyond her physical capacities.  Her work as an apartment manager also exceeded her physical limitations.  We find the doctors' recommendations were based on the fact that she was working at jobs which were inappropriate for her.


We find Defendants have presented evidence that Employee has the experience, skills, ability, and physical capacity to work as a hostess at a medium‑sized restaurant. Work as a hostess at medium‑sized restaurants, which would not include duties exceeding her lifting restrictions or require prolonged writing, is reasonably available. Therefore, we conclude Employee is not entitled to further benefits under AS 23.30.041.


Because we have concluded that Employee is not entitled to further benefits under section 41, we also conclude she is not entitled to further TTD benefits.  Several doctors have said her condition in both her wrist and shoulder have reached maximum medical improvement, and her condition is stable.  Because Employee has a scheduled injury, is medically stable and stationary, and is not entitled to rehabilitation benefits, we conclude Employee is not entitled to further TTD benefits.


However, we find Employee is entitled to further PPD benefits.  We find she has consistently been rated at a eight percent impairment of the hand or seven percent impairment of the arm.  Under the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment (Second Edition, 1977), (Guides), which applied to Employee's claim at the time of her rating, AS 23.30. 095(j); 8 AAC 45.122, an eight percent impairment of the hand is equal to a seven percent impairment of the upper extremity. (Guides at 9).  Because Employee's injury affects the use of her right arm, we find it more appropriate to use the upper extremity rating than the hand rating for purposes of PPD benefits.


Under AS 23.30.190(a)(1) benefits for the loss or loss of use of an arm are based on 280 weeks of compensation.  We find Employee is entitled to seven percent of 280 weeks or 19.6 weeks of compensation benefits.  Her weekly compensation rate is $214.41.  Benefits for 19.6 weeks equals $4,202.44.  We find Defendants have paid PPD benefits of $3,636.39.  We conclude Employee is entitled to an additional $566.05 for PPD benefits.


III. IS EMPLOYEE ENTITLED TO ATTORNEY'S FEE AND COSTS?


We next consider Employee's request for costs and attorney's fee.  AS 23.30.145 provides in pertinent part:

(a) Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 per cent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 per cent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.  When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded. . . . In determining the amount of fees the board shall take into consideration the nature, length and complexity of the services performed, transportation charges, and the benefits resulting from the services to the compensation beneficiaries.

(b) If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of his claim , the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for his costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fees.  The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.


We find Employee has been awarded additional PPD benefits.  We find Defendants controverted her claim for increased PPD benefits was controverted for purposes of AS 23.30.145(a). We conclude a fee is due under the minimum formula in AS 23.30.145(a).


Effective March 16, 1990, we amended 8 AAC 45.180 to provide in part:

An attorney requesting a fee in excess of the statutory minimum in AS 23.30.145(a) must (1) file an affidavit itemizing the hours expended, as well as the extent and character of the work performed, and (2) if a hearing is scheduled, file the affidavit at least three working days before the hearing on the claim for which the services were rendered; at the hearing the attorney may supplement the affidavit by testifying about the hours expended and the extend and character of the work performed after the affidavit was filed.  If the request and affidavit are not in accordance with this subsection, the board will deny the request for a fee in excess of the statutory minimum fee, and will award the minimum statutory fee.


We revised our regulations to require the filing of the affidavit before the hearing on the merits so Defendants would have an opportunity to respond to the affidavit at the time of the hearing.  This permits us to rule on the attorney's fees request at the same time we decide an employee's claim.  Our regulation permits us to more efficiently and effectively decide the case.  Not only is the claim and hearing still fresh in our minds at the time we make the decision, but in addition we are assured that the same panel that heard the claim makes the attorney's fees decision.  With three different panels in the Southcentral region, the same panel members are not always available to decide a claim when issues are heard at different times.


Employee also requested payment of legal expenses relating to the prosecution of her claim. She incurred costs of a total of $100.00 for copies of her deposition and Dr. Irvine's deposition, and her attorney's travel expenses to attend the deposition, and her attorney's travel expenses to attend the depositions which totaled $919.00.  Defendants did not object to these costs.  Accordingly, Defendants shall pay Employee's legal costs of $1,019.00.

ORDER

1. Employee's claim for further temporary benefits and vocational rehabilitation benefits is denied and dismissed.


2. Defendants shall pay Employee additional permanent partial of $566.05.


3. Defendants shall pay Employee's legal costs of $1,019.00.


4. Defendants shall pay Employee's attorney's fees of $250.00.


DATED at Juneau, Alaska this 18th day of June, 1990.

ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

/s/ Rebecca Ostrom
Rebecca Ostrom, Designated Chairman

/s/ Mary A. Pierce
Mary A. Pierce, Member

/s/ DwRichards
David W. Richards, Member

RJO:rjo

If compensation is payable under the terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue and penalty of 20 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date unless an interlocutory injunction staying payment is obtained in Superior Court.

APPEAL PROCEDURES

A compensation order may be appealed through proceedings in Superior Court brought by a part in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.

A compensation order becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board, and unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted, it becomes final on the 31st day after it is filed.

CERTIFICATION


I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Decision and Order in the matter of Susan M. Jensen‑Ogden, employee/applicant, v. Anchorage Westward Hilton, employer, and Great American Insurance, insurer/defendants; Case No. 8301153; dated and the office of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board in Juneau, Alaska, this 18th day of June, 1990.

Clerk

SNO

� AS 23.30.105(a) was amended effective July 1, 1988.  However, that amendment does not apply to this claim.  Section 48, Chapter 79, SLA 1988.


� Of course, the court was considering AS 23.30.191, one of the predecessors to former AS 23.30.041 which governs Employee's case.  Although there has been a statutory change, the underlying philosophy continues to be appropriate, particularly since AS 23.30.041 specifically provides for temporary disability benefits when a person is engaged in a vocational rehabilitation plan.


� “Suitable gainful employment" is defined as "employment that is reasonably attainable in light of an individual's age, education, previous occupation, and injury, and that offers an opportunity to restore the individual as soon as practical to a remunerative occupation and as nearly as possible to the individual's gross weekly earnings as determined at the time of injury.


� In this particular case, because no labor member was available from the Southcentral region, a labor representative from the Southeast panel participated in this hearing.  AS 23.30.005(e). Therefore, it was especially appropriate that the issue be ready to decide when all the panel members could discuss the issue in person.





